

SEM Consultation Draft March 2007

**Deleted:** Working Copy of  
Moyle Licence Showing  
Modifications to March 2007

**Formatted**

**LICENCE DOCUMENT**

**in respect of licence under Article 10(1)(b) of the  
Electricity (Northern Ireland) Order 1992**

**granted to**

**MOYLE INTERCONNECTOR LIMITED**

SEM Consultation Draft March 2007

**Deleted:** Working Copy of  
Moyle Licence Showing  
Modifications to March 2007

**Formatted:** Right: 3 cm

Note

The licence holder is subject to the environmental obligations set out in Schedule 9 (Preservation of Amenity and Fisheries) of the Electricity (Northern Ireland) Order 1992.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
<u>Part I</u>	<u>Terms of the Licence</u>	1
<u>Part II</u>		
Section II A	1. <u>Interpretation and construction</u>	2
Section IIB	2. <u>Maximisation of Capacity Receipts etc</u>	7
Section II B	<u>General Provisions</u>	
	3. Delivery of Statutory Accounts	8
	4. Economic Purchasing of Interconnector Services	9
	5. Health and Safety of Employees	10
	6. Provision of Information to the Authority	11
	7. Provision of information to other persons	12
	8. Payment of fees	13
	9. Disposal of relevant assets	14
Section II C	<u>Compliance with Codes</u>	
	10 Security arrangements	17
	11. Compliance with Grid Code	18
Section II D	<u>Maintenance and other matters</u>	
	12. Operation and Maintenance Standards, Availability and Quality of Service	19
	13. Licensee's regulated revenue entitlement	20
	14. Prohibited Activities	21
Section III E	<u>Use of the Moyle Interconnector</u>	
	15. Basis of charges for use of Moyle Interconnector	22
	16. Non-discrimination in the provision of use of Moyle Interconnector	23
	17. Requirement to give third party access pursuant to relevant access arrangements	25
	18. Functions of the Authority	26
	19. <u>Single Electricity Market Trading and Settlement Code</u>	28
Section 11F	<u>Restriction on Use of Certain Information</u>	
	20. Restriction on use of certain information	29
Schedule 1	Authorised Transmission Area	35
Schedule 2	Revocation	36

**PART I**

**TERMS OF THE LICENCE**

1. The Director, in exercise of the powers conferred by Articles 10(1), 10(6), 11 and 13 of the Electricity (Northern Ireland) Order 1992 (hereinafter referred to as the "**Order**") hereby grants to Moyle Interconnector Limited (hereinafter referred to as the "**licensee**") a licence to participate in the transmission of electricity for the purpose of giving a supply to any premises or enabling a supply to be so given in the authorised transmission area designated in Schedule 1 during the period specified in paragraph 3, subject to the Conditions set out in Part II.
2. The Conditions set out in Part II are subject to modification or amendment in accordance with their terms or with Articles 14, 17, 17A (as inserted by Article 36(2) of the Energy (Northern Ireland) Order 2003) or 18 of the Order and/or with any provision for the modification of the same in the Energy (Northern Ireland) Order 2003. The licence hereby granted is further subject to the terms as to revocation specified in Schedule 2.
3. The licence hereby granted shall come into force on the date on which it is granted and, unless revoked in accordance with the terms specified in Schedule 2, shall continue in force until determined by not less than 25 years' notice in writing given by the Authority to the licensee, such notice not to be served earlier than the tenth anniversary of the date on which the licence is granted.

Deleted: t

.....  
**Director**

28 February 2003

Part II A

**Condition 1: Interpretation and construction**

1. Unless the contrary intention appears:
  - (a) words and expressions used in the Licence Document shall be construed as if they were in an enactment and the Interpretation Act (Northern Ireland) 1954 applied to them; and
  - (b) references to an enactment shall include subordinate legislation and in both cases any statutory modification or re-enactment thereof after the date when the licence granted by this Licence Document comes into force.
2. Any word or expression defined for the purposes of any provision of Part II of the Order or of the Energy Order or of the SEM Order shall, unless the contrary intention appears, have the same meaning when used in the Licence Document.
3. In the Licence Document, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires:

<b>"affiliate"</b>	in relation to the licensee or any subsidiary of a holding company of the licensee, means any holding company of the licensee or any subsidiary of the licensee or any subsidiary of a holding company of the licensee, in each case within the meaning of Article 4 of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986;
<b>"Auditors"</b>	means the licensee's auditors for the time being holding office in accordance with the requirements of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986;
<b>"authorised"</b>	in relation to any business or activity means authorised by licence granted under Article 10 or exemption granted under Article 9 of the Order;
<b>"authorised electricity operator"</b>	means any person (other than the licensee) who is authorised to generate electricity, to transmit electricity or to supply electricity and any person (other than the licensee) transferring electricity to or from Northern Ireland across an interconnector or who has made application for use of interconnectors which has not been refused;
<b>"Authority"</b>	means the Northern Ireland Authority for Energy Regulation;
<b>"Competent Authority"</b>	means the Department, the Authority and any local or national agency, authority, department, inspectorate, minister, ministry, official or public or statutory person (whether autonomous or not) of, or of the government of, the United Kingdom or the European Community;
<b>"Conditions"</b>	means the Conditions in Part II;
<b>"Department"</b>	means the Department of Enterprise Trade and Investment or any successor and (where the context requires) any predecessor;

Deleted: Working Copy of Moyle Licence Showing Modifications to March 2007

"designated" in relation to any agreement, arrangement, code, notice, proposal therefor or other document, means designated by or on behalf of the Department by means of initialling or descriptive reference whether for the purposes of any of the Conditions or otherwise, but so that an agreement, arrangement, code, notice, proposal therefor or other document so designated may at the discretion of the Department cease to be designated if amended or modified in any material respect;

"Directive" means Directive 2003/54/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2003 concerning common rules for the internal market in electricity;

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt

"Director" means the Director General of Electricity Supply for Northern Ireland;

"Effective Date" means the date on which the direction described in paragraph 2 of Part II Condition 13 is issued by the Authority;

"Energy Order" means the Energy (Northern Ireland) Order 2003;

"enforcement matter" means any matter in respect of which any functions of the Authority under Article 42 of the Energy Order are or may be exercisable;

"financial year" bears the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 1 of Condition 3 of Part II;

"Grid Code" means the code of that name prepared and approved in accordance with the transmission system operator licence;

Deleted: any

Deleted: from time to time in force in respect of the transmission system in Northern Ireland, as approved by the Authority and as from time to time revised, amended, supplemented or replaced with the approval or at the instance of the Authority

"holding company" means a holding company within the meaning of Article 4 of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986;

"Interconnector Business" means the business of the licensee as holder of this licence in making available for use the Moyle Interconnector and all activities and matters incidental thereto (including the financing of the Moyle Interconnector);

"Interconnector Services" means any services which are being, or (as the context requires) are to be, provided to the licensee which fall within any of the following categories, namely:

- (a) the carrying out of works of maintenance on the Moyle Interconnector (including by way of the refurbishment of any component or the provision of any replacement components);

Deleted: Working Copy of Moyle Licence Showing Modifications to March 2007

- (b) the carrying out of any survey or inspection works on the Moyle Interconnector;
- (c) the carrying out of any repair or reinstatement works in the aftermath of the occurrence of any damage to or destruction of the Moyle Interconnector or any part of it;
- (d) the effecting or maintenance of insurances;
- (e) management, consultancy or other services in relation to any of the matters described in (a), (b), (c) or (d) above;

"land"

includes any right, easement or other interest in land and any wayleave;

"lease"

includes an underlease and a sub-underlease;

"this licence"

means the licence granted by this Licence Document;

"Licence Document"

means this document (comprising Parts I and II and Schedules 1 and 2);

"modification"

includes any addition, omission, amendment and substitution, and cognate expressions shall be construed accordingly;

"Moyle Interconnector"

means the electrical interconnector between Scotland and Northern Ireland which is owned by the licensee and which comprises the converter stations at Ballycronan More, Co. Antrim, Northern Ireland and Auchencrosh, Ayrshire, Scotland and the undersea and underground electric lines which interconnect such converter stations, together with its connections to the transmission system in Northern Ireland and the transmission system in Scotland;

"NIE"

means Northern Ireland Electricity plc, an incorporated company registered in Northern Ireland under number NI026041;

"NIE Energy Supply Licence"

[means the licence granted under Article 10(1)(c) of the Order to Northern Ireland Electricity plc on 31 March 1992, and subsequently assigned to [NIE Energy] (a body corporate registered in Northern Ireland under company number [NUMBER]);]

Deleted: "Interim Settlement Arrangements"

Deleted: means any arrangements (including any such document entitled Interim Settlement Agreement or Interim Settlement Code) in force from time to time in Northern Ireland with respect to the identification and settlement of electricity imbalances and related matters;

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt

"Northern Ireland Fuel Security Code"

means the document of that title designated as such by the Department as from time to time amended in accordance with its provisions, dealing

Deleted: "NIE Licence Document" . means the document dated 31 March 1992 by which a transmission licence and a public electricity supply licence were granted to NIE:¶

with the co-operation of licence holders in strategic contingency planning in respect of fuel stocks, the modification of the merit order and certain other systems and procedures under the Grid Code during periods when the Department has given and there is in force one or more directions under Article 37(4) of the Order, the entitlement of the licensee and authorised electricity operators to and the collection of certain payments in anticipation of, during and after the expiry of any such periods, and connected matters;

"notice"	means (unless otherwise specified) notice given either in writing or by electronic data transfer;
"Order"	means the Electricity (Northern Ireland) Order 1992;
"permitted purpose"	means the purpose of all or any of the following: <ul style="list-style-type: none"><li>(a) the Interconnector Business;</li><li>(b) without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (a), any payment or transaction lawfully made or undertaken by the licensee in relation to the disposal of or relinquishment of operational control over any relevant asset in accordance with Part II Condition 9; and</li><li>(c) without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (a), any payment or transaction lawfully made or undertaken by the licensee for a purpose within subparagraphs (i) to (vi) of paragraph 5(b) of Part II Condition 9;</li></ul>
"related undertaking"	in relation to any person means any undertaking in which that person has a participating interest as defined by Article 268 of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986;
<u>"relevant access arrangements"</u>	<u>means arrangements approved by the Authority for the entering into by the licensee with other persons of agreements to transport across the Moyle Interconnector electricity to be provided by or on behalf of such persons (which arrangements may, without limitation, include provision for the granting of rights to use the Moyle Interconnector by way of the transmission system operator inviting competitive bids, on behalf of Moyle, through an auction or other process);</u>
"relevant year"	means :-



Deleted: Working Copy of Moyle Licence Showing Modifications to March 2007

- (a) the period commencing on the later of 1<sup>st</sup> April 2003 and the Effective Date and ending on 31<sup>st</sup> March 2004; and
- (b) a financial year commencing on or after 1<sup>st</sup> April 2004;

**“SEM Order”** [means the Electricity (Single Wholesale Market) (Northern Ireland) Order 2007;]

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt

**“Single Electricity Market Trading and Settlement Code”** has the meaning given to that expression in the transmission system operator licence;

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.75 cm, Hanging: 6.5 cm, Tabs: Not at 0 cm + 1.69 cm

**“SONI”** means SONI Limited, an incorporated company registered in Northern Ireland under Number NI38715;

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt, Not Bold

**“subsidiary”** means a subsidiary within the meaning of Article 4 of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986;

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt, Not Bold

**“transmission owner licence”** means the licence granted, under Article 10(1)(b) of the Order, to Northern Ireland Electricity plc (a body corporate registered in Northern Ireland under company number NI026041) on 31 March 1992;

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 cm, First line: 0 cm

**“transmission system”** means the transmission system in Northern Ireland (but excluding the Moyle Interconnector);

Deleted: "Supply Competition Code" means the document of that title designated as such by the Department, as from time to time revised, amended, supplemented or replaced with the approval or at the instance of the Authority;¶

**“transmission system operator”** means the person (who shall initially be SONI) who from time to time is authorised to carry out all or any of the activities of operator in relation to the transmission system (such activities comprising the co-ordination and directing of flows of electricity onto and over the transmission system);

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 11 pt

**“transmission system operator licence”** means the licence under which the transmission system operator is authorised as such;

Deleted: "transmission licensee" means the licensee, the transmission system operator and any other person who for the time being holds a licence under Article 10(1)(b) of the Order; ¶

**“undertaking”** bears the meaning ascribed to it by Article 267 of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986;

Deleted: , the subsidiary of NIE through whom NIE is procuring the performance of its obligations as transmission system operator in accordance with paragraph 1 of Condition 9 of Part III of the NIE Licence Document

**“use of Moyle Interconnector”** means use of the Moyle Interconnector for the transfer of electricity; and

Formatted: Font: Bold

**“year”** means a period of 12 months commencing on 1st January.

4. Unless otherwise specified:

- (a) any reference to a numbered Part or Schedule is a reference to the Part or Schedule bearing that number herein;
- (b) any reference to a numbered Condition or to a numbered Schedule is respectively a reference to the Condition or the Schedule bearing that number in the Part in which the reference occurs;

Deleted: Working Copy of Moyle Licence Showing Modifications to March 2007

- (c) any reference to a numbered paragraph is a reference to the paragraph bearing that number in the Part, Condition or Schedule in which the reference occurs; and
  - (d) (without prejudice to any provision which restricts such variation, supplement or replacement) any reference to any agreement, licence, ~~code or other instrument~~ shall include a reference to such agreement, licence, code or other instrument as varied, supplemented or replaced from time to time.
5. The heading or title of any Part, Condition, Schedule or paragraph shall not affect the construction hereof.
  6. Where any obligation of the licensee is expressed to require performance within a specified time limit that obligation shall continue to be binding and enforceable after that time limit if the licensee fails to perform that obligation within that time limit (but without prejudice to all rights and remedies available against the licensee by reason of the licensee's failure to perform within the time limit).
  7. The provisions of section 24 of the Interpretation Act (Northern Ireland) 1954 shall apply for the purposes of the delivery or service of any document, direction or notice to be delivered or served pursuant to this Licence Document, and directions issued by the Authority pursuant to this Licence Document shall be delivered or served as aforesaid.

Deleted: (other than this licence)

Part II B

**Condition 2: Maximisation of Capacity Receipts etc.**

The licensee shall perform its functions with respect to the Moyle Interconnector in such manner as it considers is best designed to secure the objectives of:-

- (a) maximising the revenues payable pursuant to agreements for use of the Moyle Interconnector which are entered into pursuant to relevant access arrangements (as defined in Part II Condition 15);
- (b) maintaining the capacity and functionality of the Moyle Interconnector; and
- (c) optimising the efficiency, reliability, availability and operational life of the Moyle Interconnector.

**Condition 3: Delivery of Statutory Accounts**

1. The first financial year of the licensee shall run from 1 April 2003 to 31 March 2004 and thereafter each financial year of the licensee shall run from 1 April to the following 31 March.
2. The licensee shall deliver to the Authority a copy of the accounts (comprising a balance sheet and profit and loss account), together with the directors' report and the auditors' report thereon, prepared by or for the licensee in respect of each financial year in compliance with the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986.
3. The licensee shall procure that such accounts and reports are delivered to the Authority at the same time as they are sent by the licensee to its members.
4. The licensee shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure a report by the Auditors and addressed to the Authority verifying that the internal accounting and financial reporting arrangements of the Licensee are implemented in such a way as to ensure that there is no discrimination by the licensee between system users or classes of system users, and that there is no cross-subsidisation between the Interconnector Business and any other business of the licensee, its affiliates or related undertakings.

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Part II B

**Condition 4: Economic Purchasing of Interconnector Services**

- 1 The licensee shall contract for the provision of such Interconnector Services as the licensee considers appropriate in order to enable the licensee to discharge its obligations under the Order and Part II Condition 2.
- 2 In contracting for the provision of Interconnector Services pursuant to paragraph 1, the licensee shall, consistent with the objectives stated in Part II Condition 2, purchase or otherwise acquire Interconnector Services from the most economical sources available to it having regard to the quantity and nature of the Interconnector Services required to enable the discharge of its obligations under the Order and Part II Condition 2 and to the diversity, sources and reliability of such Interconnector Services which are available at that time for purchase or other acquisition.
- 3 This Condition shall not extend to prescribing the manner or circumstances in which the licensee shall at any time call for the delivery of the Interconnector Services under any contract entered into pursuant to paragraph 1.
- 4 The licensee shall not be in breach of this Condition by reason only of performing any obligation imposed on it by any enactment or by any of the Conditions or by reason of its giving effect to the relevant access arrangements (as defined in Part II Condition 15) in force from time to time.

Part II B

**Condition 5: Health and Safety of Employees**

It shall be the duty of the licensee to act together with other licence holders to consult with appropriate representatives of the employees for the purpose of establishing and maintaining an appropriate machinery or forum for the joint consideration of matters of mutual concern in respect of the health and safety of persons employed by those licence holders.

Part II B

**Condition 6: Provision of information to the Authority**

1. Subject to paragraphs 3 and 4, the licensee shall furnish to the Authority, in such manner and at such times as the Authority may require, such information and shall procure and furnish to the Authority such reports, as the Authority may consider necessary in the light of the Conditions or the Schedules or as it may require for the purpose of performing:

(a) the functions assigned to the Authority by or under the Order, ~~the Energy Order or the SEM Order~~; and

Deleted: or

(b) any functions transferred to the Authority under the Order, ~~the Energy Order or the SEM Order~~.

Deleted: or

2. Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 1, the Authority may call for the furnishing of accounting information which is more extensive than or differs from that required to be prepared and supplied to the Authority under Condition 3.

3. The licensee may not be required by the Authority to furnish the Authority under this Condition with information for the purpose of the exercise of its functions under Article 7 of the Energy Order.

4. The licensee may not be required by the Authority to furnish the Authority under this Condition with any information in relation to an enforcement matter which the licensee could not be compelled to produce or give in evidence in civil proceedings in the High Court.

5. The power of the Authority to call for information under paragraph 1 is in addition to the power of the Authority to call for information under or pursuant to any other Condition.

6. In paragraphs 1 to 5, "**information**" shall include any documents, accounts, estimates, returns or reports (whether or not prepared specifically at the request of the Authority) of any description specified by the Authority.

**Condition 7: Provision of Information to other persons**

1. Subject to the provisions of Part II Condition 20, the Licensee shall provide (in such manner and at such times as may reasonably be requested by the relevant operator or as may be directed by the Authority) to any other transmission system operator or distribution system operator (where such phrases have the meanings given to them in the Directive) with whose system the Moyle Interconnector is connected, sufficient information to ensure the secure and efficient operation, co-ordinated development and interoperability of, the Moyle Interconnector and such other system
2. The licensee may make a charge for the information given or sent pursuant to paragraph 1 of an amount which shall not exceed the maximum amount specified in directions issued from time to time by the Authority for the purposes of this Condition.

**Deleted:** The licensee shall furnish to any other transmission licensee or any system operator, in such manner and at such times as may reasonably be required, such information concerning the Moyle Interconnector:¶  
¶  
<#>as such other transmission licensee or any system operator requires in order to enable it to comply with its obligations under its transmission licence or under any enactment or in order to ensure the secure and efficient operation, co-ordinated development and inter-operability of the interconnected system in accordance with Article 7.4 of Directive 96/92/EC of the European Parliament and the Council; or¶  
as is specified in directions issued from time to time by the Authority to the licensee for the purposes of this Condition, having taken into consideration any representations made to the Authority by the licensee and other transmission licensees and other system operators, and in accordance with any conditions contained in such directions.

**Formatted:** Indent: Left: 1.69 cm

**Formatted:** Bullets and Numbering



Part II B

**Condition 8: Payment of fees**

1. The licensee shall, at the times stated hereunder, pay to the Authority fees of the amount specified in or determined under the following paragraphs of this Condition.
2. In respect of the relevant year ending on 31<sup>st</sup> March 2004, the licensee shall pay to the Authority a fee of such amount as the Authority shall determine in relation to this licence for such relevant year. Any fee so determined shall be paid by the licensee to the Authority within one month of the Authority giving notice to the licensee of its amount.
3. In respect of the year beginning on 1 April in 2004 and in each subsequent year, the licensee shall pay to the Authority a fee which is the aggregate of the following amounts:
  - (a) an amount equal to the proportion which the Authority shall determine in relation to this licence of the amount estimated by the Authority, according to a method which has previously been disclosed in writing to the licensee, as likely to be its costs during the year in question (i) in the exercise of its functions under the Order, the Energy Order ~~and the SEM Order~~ in relation to the holders of licences granted under Articles 10(1) and 10(2) of the Order and (ii) in connection with the establishment of the Authority and the transfer to the Authority of the functions, property, rights and liabilities of the Director;
  - (b) an amount which is a proportion as determined by the Authority of the amount estimated by the Authority (in consultation with the Competition Commission) as having been incurred in the calendar year immediately preceding the 1 April in question by the Competition Commission in connection with references made to it under Article 15 of the Order with respect to this licence; and
  - (c) the difference (being a positive or negative amount), if any, between:
    - (i) the amount of the fee paid by the licensee in respect of the year immediately preceding the 1 April in question in relation to this licence less any refund paid to the licensee in respect of that year under paragraph 4 below; and
    - (ii) the amount which that fee would have been in respect of that year had the amount comprised therein under sub-paragraph (a) above (or, where that year commenced on 1 April 2003 had the amount comprised therein which was attributable to the matters referred to in that sub-paragraph, as determined by the Authority according to a method disclosed in writing to the licensee) been calculated by reference to the total costs of the Authority in connection with its functions under the Order and the SEM Order and its functions in relation to electricity under the Energy Order, and the proportion thereof actually attributable to this licence, such total costs being apportioned as determined by the Authority according to a method previously disclosed in writing to the licensee;and the fee shall be paid by the licensee to the Authority within one month of the Authority giving notice to the licensee of its amount if that notice is given within 6 months of the beginning of the year in respect of which the fee is payable.
4. In respect of the year beginning on 1 April 2004 and for each subsequent year, the Authority may pay the licensee an amount ("**the refund**") calculated in accordance with the method previously disclosed in writing to the licensee and by reference to the difference between:
  - (a) the proportion of the licence fee for that year paid by the licensee which is attributable to the Authority's estimates in accordance with paragraph 3(a) above; and

Deleted: and

(b) the Authority's reasonable revised estimate of those costs;

provided that any such refund shall be paid to the licensee on or before 31 March in the year to which the licence fee relates.

Part II B

**Condition 9: Disposal of relevant assets**

1. The licensee shall not dispose of or relinquish operational control over any relevant asset otherwise than in accordance with the following paragraphs of this Condition.
2. Save as provided in paragraph 3, the licensee shall give to the Authority not less than 2 months' (or such shorter period as the Authority and the licensee may agree in any specific case) prior written notice of its intention to dispose of or relinquish operational control over any relevant asset, together with such further information as the Authority may request relating to such asset or the circumstances of such intended disposal or relinquishment of control or to the intentions in regard thereto of the person proposing to acquire such asset or operational control over such asset.
3. Notwithstanding paragraphs 1 and 2, the licensee may dispose of or relinquish operational control over any relevant asset:
  - (a) where:
    - (i) the Authority has issued directions for the purposes of this Condition containing a general consent (whether or not subject to conditions) to:
      - (aa) transactions of a specified description; and/or
      - (bb) the disposal of or relinquishment of operational control over relevant assets of a specified description; and
    - (ii) the disposal or relinquishment of operational control in question is effected pursuant to a transaction of a description specified in the directions or the relevant asset in question is of a description so specified and the disposal or relinquishment of operational control is in accordance with any conditions to which the consent is subject; or
  - (b) where the disposal or relinquishment of operational control in question is required by or under any enactment; or
  - (c) where the person in favour of whom the relevant asset is proposed to be disposed or operational control is proposed to be relinquished will hold at the time of such disposal or relinquishment a licence under Article 10(1)(b) of the Order which authorises it to participate in the transmission of electricity within the meaning of Article 8(4) of the Order, as inserted by Article 28(3) of the Energy (Northern Ireland) Order 2003, by making the Moyle Interconnector available for use.
4. Notwithstanding paragraph 1, the licensee may dispose of or relinquish operational control over any relevant asset specified in any notice given under paragraph 2 in circumstances where:
  - (a) the Authority confirms in writing that it consents to such disposal or relinquishment (which consent may be made subject to the acceptance by the licensee or any third party in favour of whom the relevant asset is proposed to be disposed or operational control is proposed to be relinquished of such conditions as the Authority may specify); or
  - (b) the Authority does not inform the licensee in writing of any objection to such disposal or relinquishment of control within the notice period referred to in paragraph 2.

5. Without prejudice to paragraphs 1 to 4, the licensee shall not without the written consent of the Authority after disclosure of all material facts by the licensee to the Authority:
- (a) create any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other form of security or encumbrance whatsoever, undertake any indebtedness to any other person or enter into any guarantee of any obligation otherwise than:
    - (i) on an arm's length basis;
    - (ii) on normal commercial terms;
    - (iii) for a Permitted Purpose; and
    - (iv) (if the transaction is within the ambit of paragraph 1) in accordance with paragraphs 3 and 4,

Provided that nothing in this Condition shall prevent the licensee guaranteeing any obligations owed by an affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee which has been or is to be incurred for a Permitted Purpose;

- (b) transfer, lease, license or lend any sum or sums, asset, right or benefit to any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee otherwise than by way of:
    - (i) repayment of capital or a distribution or other return of assets on a winding-up;
    - (ii) payment properly due for any goods, services or assets provided on an arm's length basis and on normal commercial terms;
    - (iii) a transfer, lease, licence or loan of any asset, right or benefit on an arm's length basis and on normal commercial terms;
    - (iv) repayment of any loan or payment of any interest on such a loan on an arm's length basis and on normal commercial terms;
    - (v) payments for group corporation tax relief;
    - (vi) a loan not prohibited by sub-paragraph (c);
  - (c) make loans to any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee, other than loans for a Permitted Purpose.
6. In relation to a material disposal, any consent of the Authority pursuant to paragraph 4 shall be given after the Authority shall have consulted and taken into consideration any representations timeously made by any authorised electricity operator liable to be materially affected by the disposal in question.
7. In this Condition:

**"disposal"** includes any sale, assignment, gift, lease, licence, the grant of any right of possession, loan, security, mortgage, charge or the grant of any other encumbrance or the permitting of any encumbrance to subsist or any other disposition to a third party and **"dispose"** shall be construed accordingly;

**"indebtedness"** means all liabilities now or hereafter due, owing or incurred, whether actual or contingent, whether solely or jointly with

any other person and whether as principal or surety, together with any interest accruing thereon and all costs, charges, penalties and expenses incurred in connection herewith;

**"relevant asset"**

means:

- (a) any asset for the time being forming part of the Moyle Interconnector; and
- (b) any legal or beneficial right, title or interest in the Moyle Interconnector or any land upon which the Moyle Interconnector is situate.

**Condition 10: Security arrangements**

1. The licensee shall comply with the provisions of the Northern Ireland Fuel Security Code and such provisions shall have effect as if they were set out in this Licence Document.
2. The Northern Ireland Fuel Security Code may be amended in accordance with its provisions.

Part IIC

**Condition 11: Compliance with Grid Code**

1. The licensee shall comply with the provisions of the Grid Code insofar as applicable to its Interconnector Business.
2. The Authority may (following consultation with the licensee and the transmission system operator) ~~issue directions relieving the licensee of its obligation under paragraph 1 in respect of such parts of the Grid Code and, in each case, to such extent as may be specified in those directions.~~

**Deleted:** such transmission licensee(s) as the Authority shall consider appropriate

**Condition 12: Operation and Maintenance Standards, Availability and Quality of Service**

1. The licensee shall:-
  - (a) through an agreement with the transmission system operator in terms approved by the Authority entered into on or before the Effective Date, make arrangements for the transmission system operator to operate the Moyle Interconnector in conjunction with its operation of the transmission system and for the transmission system operator to make arrangements for the entering into by the licensee of agreements for use of the Moyle Interconnector with third parties; and
  - (b) maintain the Moyle Interconnector,

in each case, in accordance with such standard of operation and maintenance as the licensee may, after consultation with the transmission system operator and with the approval of the Authority, adopt from time to time.
2. The licensee shall not make or agree to any amendment or variation (excluding an amendment or variation which is of a formal, technical or administrative nature) to the agreement referred to in paragraph 1(a) without the consent of the Authority.
3. Revisions to the standard referred to in paragraph 1 proposed by the licensee shall require to be approved by the Authority.
4. The Authority may issue directions requiring the licensee to revise the standard referred to in paragraph 1 in such manner as may be specified in the directions, and the licensee shall forthwith comply with any such directions.
5. The licensee shall give or send a copy of the standard referred to in paragraph 1 to the Authority.
6. The licensee shall (subject to paragraph 7) give or send a copy of such standard to any person requesting the same.
7. The licensee may make a charge for any copy given or sent pursuant to paragraph 6 of an amount reflecting the licensee's reasonable costs which will not exceed any amount specified for the time being for the purposes of this Condition in directions issued from time to time by the Authority.
8. The licensee shall within three months after the date of grant of this licence and thereafter whenever requested to do so by the Authority, draw up and submit to the Authority for the Authority's approval a statement setting out criteria by which the performance of the licensee in maintaining the availability of the Moyle Interconnector and the quality of service which it provides may be measured.
9. The licensee shall within 2 months after the end of each financial year submit to the Authority a report providing details of the performance of the licensee during the previous financial year against the criteria referred to in paragraph 8.



Part IID

**Condition 13: The Licensee’s regulated revenue entitlement**

1 The licensee shall be entitled to derive revenues from the following sources, namely:

- (a) from NIE under the Existing Interconnector Agreement in respect of the period ending on the date of termination of the same;
- (b) from persons who from time to time are parties to agreements with the licensee for use of the Moyle Interconnector in accordance with Conditions 15 to 18 (inclusive) of Part II; and
- (c) from recoveries of the Collection Agency Income Requirement made by the Collection Agent through its transmission charges under the arrangements described in the agreement referred to in paragraph 4.

Deleted: or transmission and distribution

2 The maximum amount of the revenues which the licensee is entitled to recover from the sources described in paragraph 1 in any relevant year shall be the allowed recovery for such relevant year, as specified in a direction issued by the Authority to the licensee for the purposes of this paragraph 2.

3 A direction issued pursuant to paragraph 2 shall not be capable of being revoked or modified without the prior written consent of the licensee.

4 The licensee shall on the Effective Date enter into an agreement with the Collection Agent in terms approved by the Authority which makes provision for the Collection Agent to collect the Collection Agency Income Requirement, as part of its transmission charges, and to account to the licensee for the revenues so collected.

Deleted: or transmission and distribution

5 The licensee shall not make or agree to any amendment or variation (excluding an amendment or variation which is of a formal, technical or administrative nature) to the agreement referred to in paragraph 4, without the consent of the Authority

Deleted: 3

6 The licensee shall perform any obligation imposed on it by the direction described in paragraph 2.

7 As used in this Condition:-

(a) “Collection Agent” means SONI or such other person as is from time to time authorised pursuant to its transmission licence to receive revenues derived from the use of the transmission system in Northern Ireland;

Deleted: NIE

Deleted: and retain

(b) “Existing Interconnector Agreement” means an Agreement dated 27<sup>th</sup> March 2002 between the licensee and NIE by which, amongst other things, the licensee grants rights to use the capacity of the Moyle Interconnector to NIE;

(c) “Collection Agency Income Requirement” means, in respect of any relevant year, the amount which the Collection Agent is entitled to recover as part of its transmission charges in such relevant year through the term “CAIR<sub>i</sub>” in the formula for the calculation of maximum regulated transmission and distribution revenue as set out in the revenue restriction condition of the [transmission owner licence] [transmission system operator licence].

Deleted: or transmission and distribution

Deleted: paragraph 2 of Schedule 4 to the NIE Licence Document or in any corresponding provision of the transmission licence of any Collection Agent;

Deleted: <#>“transmission charges” and “transmission and distribution charges” have the same meaning as they have in any relevant provision of the transmission licence of the Collection Agent.¶

Part IID

**Condition 14: Prohibited Activities**

- 1 The licensee shall not conduct any business or carry on any activity other than the Interconnector Business without the written consent of the Authority.
- 2 The licensee shall not on its own account purchase or otherwise acquire electricity (including by means of entry into an electricity purchase contract) for the purpose of sale or other disposition to third parties in Northern Ireland unless such purchase or other acquisition or sale or other disposition is made as part of the Interconnector Business.
- 3 The licensee shall not hold or acquire any interest in any generation sets (whether or not located in Northern Ireland) and shall not hold an accountable interest in any generation sets (whether or not located in Northern Ireland), unless such generation sets are required for the purposes of carrying on the Interconnector Business.
- 4 The licensee shall not hold or carry on the Interconnector Business through any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee without the written consent of the Authority.
- 5 The licensee shall not hold or acquire shares or any other interest in any other person without the written consent of the Authority.
- 6 The licensee shall not enter into any swap, option, derivative or other financially settled transaction without the written consent of the Authority.

The licensee shall procure that the Interconnector Business does not give any cross-subsidy to, or receive any cross-subsidy from, any other business of the licensee or of an affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee.

8 In this Condition:

**"accountable interest"**

has the meaning ascribed to it in the NIE Energy Supply Licence.

**Deleted:** Without limiting paragraph 1 above, the licensee shall not, following the coming into operation of Article 28(3) of the Energy (Northern Ireland) Order 2003 participate in the transmission of electricity other than by making the Moyle Interconnector available for use.

**Formatted:** Bullets and Numbering

**Formatted:** Indent: Hanging: 6.33 cm

**Deleted:** paragraph 6 of Condition 13 of the NIE Licence Document

Part IIE                    **USE OF THE MOYLE INTERCONNECTOR**  
**Condition 15:**        **Basis of charges for use of Moyle Interconnector**

1. Unless (and except for so long as) the Authority, upon the application of the licensee, approves otherwise, charges for use of the Moyle Interconnector shall be made in accordance with the procedure for the setting of such charges embodied in the relevant access arrangements applicable to the Moyle Interconnector from time to time.

**Deleted:** In this Condition and Conditions 16, 17 and 18¶  
“**relevant access arrangements**” means arrangements approved by the Authority for the entering into by the licensee with other persons of agreements to transport across the Moyle Interconnector electricity to be provided by or on behalf of such persons (which arrangements may, without limitation, include provision for the granting of rights to use the Moyle Interconnector by way of the transmission system operator inviting competitive bids, on behalf of Moyle, through an auction or other process).¶

**Condition 16: Non-discrimination in the provision of use of Moyle Interconnector**

- 1 In the provision of use of the Moyle Interconnector, the licensee shall not unduly discriminate between any person or class or classes of persons.
2. Without prejudice to paragraph 1, the licensee shall not make charges for the provision of the Moyle Interconnector to any person or class or classes of persons which differ from the charges for such provision to any other person or class or classes of persons except insofar as such differences reasonably reflect differences in the costs associated with such provision or differences in the scope of the services provided under the relevant use of interconnector agreement or result from the operation of relevant access arrangements in accordance with their terms, including without limitation, from the grant of use of interconnector rights pursuant to any auction process contemplated by relevant access arrangements or as otherwise approved by the Authority.
3. The licensee shall not in making charges for use of the Moyle Interconnector restrict, distort or prevent competition in the transmission, distribution, generation or supply of electricity.
4. The licensee shall not be in breach of this Condition:-
  - (a) where by reason of having previously granted rights to use the Moyle Interconnector (including, without limitation, the right granted to the Power Procurement Business for the entire term of the SP Electricity Supply Agreement to use 125 MW of the capacity of the Moyle Interconnector for the purpose of enabling the Power Procurement Business to perform its obligations under the SP Electricity Supply Agreement and rights granted prior to the date of grant of this licence pursuant to any auction process), there is no further available capacity of the Moyle Interconnector in respect of which to grant use of the Moyle Interconnector or where the available capacity of the Moyle Interconnector has been allocated in accordance with the arrangements for such allocation operated by it from time to time in circumstances where it (or the transmission system operator on its behalf) has determined that any one or more particular interconnection capacities are insufficient to meet the requirements of all persons to whom use of the Moyle Interconnector has been granted; or
  - (b) by reason only of a failure to do or not do any thing which it is prevented from doing or not doing by reason of a failure by any co-operator to comply with and perform its obligations under any agreement with that co-operator concerning the Moyle Interconnector or by a party (other than the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee) to a related document or by a person who is obliged to comply with a related document to comply with and perform its obligations under the related document in question; or
  - (c) by reason only of limiting use of the Moyle Interconnector to those persons, and in such manner, as is provided for in the Single Electricity Market Trading and Settlement Code; or
  - (d) by reason only of its giving effect to the relevant access arrangements in force from time to time.
5. The licensee shall keep and maintain such records concerning the provision of use of the Moyle Interconnector as are, in the opinion of the Authority, sufficient to enable the Authority to assess whether the licensee is performing its obligations under paragraph 1 of

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

this Condition and the licensee shall furnish to the Authority such records (or such of these as the Authority may require), in such manner and at such times as the Authority may require.

6. In this Condition 16 and in Conditions 17 and 18:-

“**co-operator**” means any person (including any person who from time to time performs the role of operator of the transmission system), other than the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee who owns or operates assets which are used in conjunction with the Moyle Interconnector or who is able to exercise jointly with the licensee control over the use made of the Moyle Interconnector;

“**particular interconnection capacity**” means the capacity of the Moyle Interconnector for transferring electricity into or out of Northern Ireland under any particular system conditions;

“**Power Procurement Business**” has the meaning given in the NIE [Energy Supply Licence](#);

“**related document**” means any agreement, code, rules, or arrangement relating to or incidental to the use of the Moyle Interconnector for the time being in force and to which the licensee is a party or with which the licensee is obliged to comply;

“**SP Electricity Supply Agreement**” means an Electricity Supply Agreement dated 29<sup>th</sup> and 30<sup>th</sup> March 1999 between NIE and Scottish Power plc (whose interest is at the date of grant of this licence vested in Scottish Power Generation Limited), or any successor.

**Condition 17 Requirement to give third party access pursuant to relevant access arrangements**

1 The licensee shall:-

- (a) (to the extent, if any, to which it has not done so prior to the date of granting of this licence) establish relevant access arrangements in relation to the Moyle Interconnector, not later than 90 days after such date or such other date as shall be agreed in writing between the licensee and the Authority; and
- (b) (subject to paragraph 2) give effect to and operate the relevant access arrangements which are in force from time to time.

2 The licensee shall not be obliged pursuant to this Condition to offer to enter into or to enter into an agreement for use of the Moyle Interconnector with any person:-

- (a) if to do so would be likely to involve the licensee:-
  - (i) in breach of its duties under Article 12 of the Order;
  - (ii) in breach of the Electricity Supply Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1991 as amended by the Electricity Supply (Amendment) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1993 or of any regulations made under Article 32 of the Order or of any other enactment relating to safety or standards applicable to the Moyle Interconnector; or
  - (iii) in breach of any of the Conditions; or
- (b) (and shall not enter into such an agreement with any person) if the person making the application does not undertake to be bound by the terms of:-
  - (i) such parts of the Grid Code and to such extent as the Authority shall from time to time specify in directions issued by the Authority to the licensee for the purposes of this Condition;
  - (ii) the Single Electricity Market Trading and Settlement Code;
  - (iii) the terms of any code of general application or agreement made between the licensee and any co-operator of the Moyle Interconnector governing the operation and maintenance of the Moyle Interconnector approved for the time being by the Authority; and
  - (iv) a transmission use of system agreement with the transmission system operator; or
- (c) where, on the application of the licensee or any other person, the Authority in its discretion shall determine that (having regard to the part of the capacity of the Moyle Interconnector already contracted by the licensee to third parties, including the 125 MW contracted to the Power Procurement Business as referred to in paragraph 4(a) of Condition 16 and capacity contracted prior to the date of grant of this licence pursuant to any auction process) the capacity of the Moyle Interconnector is insufficient to accommodate the requirements of that other person.

**Deleted:** Supply Competition Code

**Deleted:** any balancing, settlement or like arrangements, including the Interim Settlement Arrangements, which are in force from time to time

3 The licensee shall (in consultation with authorised electricity operators liable to be materially affected thereby and any relevant co-operator) periodically review (including upon the request of the Authority) the relevant access arrangements which are in force from time to time. Following any such review, the licensee shall send to the Authority:-

- (a) a report on the outcome of such review; and
- (b) any proposed revisions to the relevant access arrangements which the licensee (having regard to the outcome of such review) reasonably thinks fit; and
- (c) any written representations or objections from authorised electricity operators or co-operators (including any proposals by any such person for revisions to the relevant access arrangements not accepted by the licensee in the course of such review) arising during the consultation process and subsequently maintained.

4 Revisions to the relevant access arrangements proposed by the licensee and sent to the Authority pursuant to paragraph 3 shall require to be approved by the Authority.

5 ~~Following such consultation (if any) as the Authority may consider appropriate, the Authority may issue directions requiring the licensee to revise the relevant access arrangements in such manner as may be specified in the directions, and the licensee shall forthwith comply with any such directions. In making such directions, the Authority shall have regard to any review undertaken by the licensee under paragraph 3 and any written representations or objections as are referred to in paragraph 3(c).~~

Deleted: Having regard to any written representations or objections referred to in subparagraph (c) of paragraph 3, and f

Deleted: further

6 The licensee shall give or send a copy of the relevant access arrangements from time to time in force to the Authority.

7 The licensee shall (subject to paragraph 8) give or send a copy of the relevant access arrangements from time to time in force to any person requesting the same.

8 The licensee may make a charge for any copy given or sent pursuant to paragraph 7 of an amount which will not exceed any amount specified for the time being for the purposes of this Condition in directions issued by the Authority.

9 The licensee shall within 28 days following receipt of a request from any person, give or send to such person such information in the possession of the licensee as may be reasonably required by such person for the purpose of completing the appropriate paragraphs of the Electricity (Applications for Licences and Extensions of Licences) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1992 or such provisions to like effect contained in any further regulations then in force made pursuant to Articles 10(3) and 64 of the Order.

**Condition 18: Functions of the Authority**

- 1 Upon the application of any person wishing to question the terms of an agreement for use of the Moyle Interconnector offered by or to be entered into by the licensee pursuant to any relevant access arrangements applicable to the Moyle Interconnector or required to be offered under the terms of any agreement previously entered into for use of the Moyle Interconnector by the person or persons entitled to use thereunder, or upon the application of the licensee, the Authority may, pursuant to Article 11(3)(c) of the Order, settle any terms of the agreement in dispute between the licensee and that person or between such persons (as the case may be) in such manner as appears to the Authority to be reasonable having (insofar as relevant) regard in particular to the following considerations:-
  - (a) that such person should pay to the licensee charges determined in accordance with the procedure for the setting of such charges embodied in the relevant access arrangements applicable to the Moyle Interconnector;
  - (b) that the obligations of the licensee under the agreement should not be in conflict with the provisions of any related document for the time being approved by the Authority;
  - (c) that the performance by the licensee of its obligations under the agreement should not cause it to be in breach of those provisions referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) or (b) of paragraph 2 of Condition 17; and
  - (d) that the terms and conditions of the agreement so settled by the Authority and of any other agreements entered into by the licensee for the use of the Moyle Interconnector pursuant to relevant access arrangements should be, so far as circumstances allow, in as similar a form as practicable.
- 2 Insofar as any person who has received an offer such as is referred to in paragraph 1 wishes to proceed on the basis of the agreement as settled by the Authority, the licensee shall forthwith enter into and implement such agreement in accordance with its terms.
- 3 If either party to an agreement entered into pursuant to relevant access arrangements proposes to vary the contractual terms of such agreement in any manner provided for under such agreement, the Authority may, at the request of the licensee or other party to such agreement, settle any dispute relating to such variation in such manner as appears to the Authority to be reasonable.



**Condition 19: Single Electricity Market Trading and Settlement Code**

1 The licensee shall accede to the Single Electricity Market Trading and Settlement Code, register the Moyle Interconnector pursuant to the Single Electricity Market Trading and Settlement Code, and comply with the Single Electricity Market Trading and Settlement Code insofar as applicable to it in its capacity as the owner of the Moyle Interconnector.

*[This obligation will remain under review as the TSC develops.]*

Formatted

Deleted: Requests for transit

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0 cm + Tab after: 1.5 cm + Indent at: 1.5 cm

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.5 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Deleted: <#>The licensee shall, after receiving in connection with transit for a minimum duration of one year an application by any entity for an agreement for use of the Moyle Interconnector, notify the Department, the Authority and the Commission of the European Communities without delay of the matters set out in paragraph 2.¶  
<#>The matters of which notification must be given are:-¶  
<#>the application;¶  
<#>if an agreement has not been concluded within 12 months of the date of receipt of the application, the reasons for the failure to conclude it; ¶  
<#>the conclusion of the agreement, whether it is concluded before or after the expiry of the period mentioned in sub-paragraph (b) above.¶  
<#>If, in relation to an application for transit by any entity, the Authority has been requested to exercise its powers under Condition 17, the Authority may delay the exercise of its said powers until the terms have been considered by the body set up under Article 3.4 of the Directive and the Authority may give such weight to the opinion (if any) of that body as it thinks fit in exercising its said powers.¶  
<#>In this Condition:-¶  
“entity” means any of the entities referred to in Article 3.1 of the Directive;¶  
“Directive” means the Directive of the Council of the European Communities, dated 29 October 1990 (No. 90/547/EEC), on the transit of electricity through transmission grids;¶  
“grid” means any high-voltage electricity transmission grid for the time being listed in the Annex to the Directive;¶  
“Member State” means a Member State of the European Communities; and¶

... [1]

Formatted: Indent: Left: 3 cm

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Part II F **RESTRICTION ON USE OF CERTAIN INFORMATION**  
**Condition 20: Restriction on use of certain information**

1. The licensee shall procure:
  - (a) that the licensee shall not obtain any unfair competitive advantage from its possession of protected information; and
  - (b) that protected information is not used by any other person for the purpose of obtaining for that other person:
    - (i) any unfair commercial advantage from its possession of protected information;
    - (ii) any licence under Article 10 of the Order;
    - (iii) any right to purchase or otherwise acquire electricity;
    - (iv) any right to sell or otherwise supply electricity; or
    - (v) control of any body corporate which, directly or indirectly, has the benefit of any such licence or right.
2. The licensee shall implement such measures and procedures and take all such other steps as shall be specified in directions issued by the Authority from time to time for the purposes of this Condition to be in its opinion reasonably necessary for the purpose of securing compliance by the licensee with its obligations under paragraph 1.
3. The licensee shall:
  - (a) procure and furnish to the Authority, in such manner and at such times as the Authority may require, such information and reports as the Authority may consider necessary concerning the performance by the licensee of its obligations under paragraphs 1 and 2 and the effectiveness of the measures, procedures and steps specified in the directions referred to in paragraph 2 to secure compliance by the licensee with its obligations under paragraph 1;
  - (b) procure that access to any premises of the licensee shall be given at any time and from time to time to any nominated person(s) for the purpose of investigating whether the licensee has performed its obligations under paragraphs 1 and 2 and the effectiveness of the measures, procedures and steps specified in the directions referred to in paragraph 2 to secure compliance by the licensee with its obligations under paragraph 1 and that the licensee and its employees shall co-operate in any such investigation to the extent requested by the nominated person(s); and
  - (c) procure that nominated person(s) shall be entitled to inspect and/or take copies of such records and data of the licensee as they shall consider to be reasonably necessary for the purpose referred to in sub-paragraph (b) above.
4. Where the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee receives protected information, the licensee shall (and shall procure that such affiliate or related undertaking shall) secure that protected information is not:
  - (a) divulged by business personnel to any person unless that person is an authorised recipient;

- (b) used by business personnel for the purposes of obtaining for the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee or for any other person:
  - (i) any licence under Article 10 of the Order; or
  - (ii) any right to purchase or otherwise acquire, or to distribute, electricity (including rights under any electricity purchase contract); or
  - (iii) any contract or arrangement for the sale or supply of electricity to any person; or
  - (iv) any contract for the use of any electric lines or electrical plant belonging to or under the control of a relevant supplier; or
  - (v) control of any body corporate which, whether directly or indirectly, has the benefit of any such licence, contract or arrangement; or
- (c) used by business personnel for the purpose of carrying on any activities other than permitted activities;

except with the prior consent in writing of the relevant person to whose affairs such protected information relates.

5. Paragraph 4 shall not apply to:

- (a) any protected information which, before it is furnished to business personnel, is in the public domain; or
- (b) any protected information which, after it is furnished to business personnel:
  - (i) is acquired by the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee in circumstances in which this Condition does not apply; or
  - (ii) is acquired by the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee in circumstances in which this Condition does apply and thereafter ceases to be subject to the restrictions imposed by this Condition; or
  - (iii) enters the public domain;

and in any such case otherwise than as a result of (i) a breach by the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee of its obligations under this Condition or (ii) a breach by the person who disclosed that protected information of that person's confidentiality obligation and the licensee or any of its affiliates or related undertakings is aware of such breach; or

- (c) the disclosure of any protected information to any person if the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee is required or expressly permitted to make such disclosure to such person or it is necessary for it to do so:
  - (i) in compliance with the duties of the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee under the Order, ~~the Energy (Northern Ireland) Order 2003,~~ the SEM Order or any other requirement of a Competent Authority; or
  - (ii) in compliance with the conditions of this licence or any document referred to in this Licence Document with which the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee is required by virtue of

- the Order or the Energy (Northern Ireland) Order 2003 or the SEM Order or this licence to comply; or
- (iii) in compliance with any other requirement of law; or
  - (iv) in response to a requirement of any stock exchange or regulatory authority or the Panel on Take-overs and Mergers; or
  - (v) pursuant to the arbitration rules for the Electricity Arbitration Association or pursuant to any judicial or other arbitral process or tribunal of competent jurisdiction; or
- (d) any protected information to the extent that the licensee or any of its affiliates or related undertakings is expressly permitted or required to disclose that information under the terms of any agreement or arrangement (including the Grid Code, the Single Electricity Market Trading and Settlement Code, and the Northern Ireland Fuel Security Code) with the relevant person to whose affairs such protected information relates.
6. The licensee and each of its affiliates and related undertakings may use all and any information or data supplied to or acquired by it from or in relation to any relevant person in performing permitted activities, including for the operation and planning of the Moyle Interconnector.
7. The licensee shall not (and shall procure that its affiliates and related undertakings shall not), having regard to the activities in which any business person is engaged and the nature and effective life of the protected information divulged to it by virtue of such activities, unreasonably continue (taking into account any industrial relations concerns reasonably held by it) to divulge protected information or permit protected information to be divulged by any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee to any business person who has notified the licensee or the relevant affiliate or related undertaking of its intention to become engaged as an employee or agent of any other person (other than of the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking thereof) who is:
- (a) authorised by licence or exemption to generate, transmit, or supply electricity; or
  - (b) an electricity broker or who is known to be engaged in the writing of electricity purchase contracts; or
  - (c) known to be retained as a consultant to any such person who is referred to in paragraph (a) or (b) above;
- save where the licensee or such affiliate or related undertaking could not, in all the circumstances, reasonably be expected to refrain from divulging to such business person protected information which is required for the proper performance of his duties.
8. Without prejudice to the other provisions of this Condition, the licensee shall procure that any additional copies made of the protected information, whether in hard copy or computerised form, will clearly identify the protected information as protected.
9. The licensee shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that every authorised adviser to whom the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee discloses protected information does not use that protected information for any purpose other than that for which it was provided and does not disclose that protected information otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of this Condition.
10. This Condition is without prejudice to the duties at law of the licensee towards relevant persons.

11. In this Condition:

- "authorised adviser"** means such professional advisers of the licensee, engaged and acting in that capacity, as require to have access to any protected information;
- "authorised recipient"** means, in relation to any protected information, any business person who, before the protected information had been divulged to him by the licensee, had been informed of the nature and effect of this Condition and who requires access to such protected information for the proper performance of his duties as a business person in the course of permitted activities;
- "business person"** means any person who is
- (a) a director of the licensee;
  - (b) an employee of the licensee;
  - (c) engaged as an agent of or an adviser to or performs work in relation to or services for the Interconnector Business; or
  - (d) an authorised adviser;
- "data"** has the same meaning as in the Data Protection Act 1984;
- "dealings"** includes dealings entered into otherwise than for purposes connected with the transmission of electricity;
- "Electricity Arbitration Association"** means the unincorporated members' club of that name formed inter alia to promote the efficient and economic operation of the procedure for the resolution of disputes within the electricity supply industry by means of arbitration or otherwise in accordance with its arbitration rules;
- "nominated person(s)"** means the person(s) from time to time nominated by the Authority for the purposes of this Condition by notice to the licensee;
- "permitted activities"** means activities carried on for the purposes of the Interconnector Business;
- "protected information"** means:
- (i) information relating to the affairs of a relevant person which has been furnished to or otherwise acquired by the licensee under or pursuant to, or in the course of any dealings with the relevant person under this licence, the Grid Code,

**Deleted:** Working Copy of Moyle Licence Showing Modifications to March 2007

the Northern Ireland Fuel Security Code, any agreement for use of or connection to or modification of a connection to the Moyle Interconnector or any agreement for use of the Moyle Interconnector or in the course of any negotiations with (including any application made by) the relevant person for such; and

**Deleted:** , the Supply Competition Code

- (ii) any other information in the possession of the licensee which relates to the affairs of a relevant person and would not reasonably be expected to be in the possession of the licensee if the licensee were not the holder of this licence;

other than (in each case):

- (aa) any such information which, or any such information of a description which, is specified in directions issued by the Authority from time to time for the purposes of this Condition to be information, or (as the case may be) information of a description, which is not protected information for the purposes of this Condition; and

- (bb) any such information which is in or enters into the public domain otherwise than as a consequence of unauthorised disclosure by the licensee or any affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee (or by any person to whom the same is disclosed or suffered to be disclosed by the licensee or such affiliate or related undertaking) and for this purpose the disclosure of information by its inclusion in a statement of system capacity of ~~the~~ licensee shall be deemed to be an authorised disclosure of that information if the Authority shall so specify in directions issued from time to time for the purposes of this Condition;

**Deleted:** any transmission

**Deleted:** prepared under any Condition of a licence granted pursuant to Article 10 of the Order

**Deleted:** to the licensee and every authorised electricity operator and relevant exempt self supplier (as from time to time defined in any relevant transmission licence) liable to be materially affected thereby, after consultation with such persons and having taken into consideration any representations made to him by such persons

**"relevant person"**

means any person who is not an affiliate or related undertaking of the licensee;

SCHEDULE 1

AUTHORISED TRANSMISSION AREA

The authorised transmission area shall comprise the electrical interconnector between Scotland and Northern Ireland which is owned by the licensee and which comprises the converter stations at Ballycronan More, Co. Antrim, Northern Ireland and Auchencrosh, Ayrshire, Scotland and the undersea and underground electric lines which interconnect such converter stations, together with its connections to the transmission system in Northern Ireland and the transmission system in Scotland and the land (including the foreshore and seabed) on which it is situated, to the extent located within Northern Ireland.

## SCHEDULE 2

### REVOCATION

1. The Authority may at any time revoke this licence by not less than 30 days' notice in writing to the licensee:
  - (a) if the licensee agrees in writing with the Authority that such licence should be revoked;
  - (b) if any amount payable under Condition 8 of Part II is unpaid 30 days after it has become due and remains unpaid for a period of 14 days after the Authority has given the licensee notice that the payment is overdue provided that no such notice shall be given earlier than the sixteenth day after the day on which the amount payable became due;
  - (c) if the licensee fails to comply with a final order (within the meaning of Article 42 of the Energy Order) or with a provisional order (within the meaning of Article 42 of the Energy Order) which has been confirmed under Article 42 of the Energy Order and which (in either case) has been made in respect of a contravention or apprehended contravention of a Condition to which such licence is subject or of a relevant requirement as defined in Article 41(2)(a) of the Energy Order imposed on the licensee in its capacity as holder of such licence and (in either case) such failure is not rectified to the satisfaction of the Authority within three months after the Authority has given notice of such failure to the licensee, provided that no such notice shall be given by the Authority before the expiration of the period within which an application under Article 44 of the Energy Order could be made questioning the validity of the final or provisional order or before the proceedings relating to any such application are finally determined;
  - (d) if the licensee fails to comply with any order made by the Secretary of State under Section 56, 73, 74 or 89 of the Fair Trading Act 1973 or by the court under Section 34 of the Competition Act 1998 or any direction under Sections 32 or 33 of the Competition Act 1998 or any proposals accepted by the Secretary of State under Section 6A of the Fair Trading Act 1973;
  - (e) if the licensee:
    - (i) is unable to pay its debts (within the meaning of Article 103(1) or (2) of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989, but subject to paragraph 3 of this Schedule) or if any voluntary arrangement is proposed in relation to it under Article 14 of that Order, or if it enters into any scheme of arrangement (other than for the purpose of reconstruction or amalgamation upon terms and within such period as may previously have been approved in writing by the Authority); or
    - (ii) has a receiver (which expression shall include an administrative receiver within the meaning of Article 5(1) of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989) of the whole or any material part of its assets or undertaking appointed; or
    - (iii) has an administration order under Article 21 of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 made in relation to it; or



- (iv) passes any resolution for winding-up other than a resolution previously approved in writing by the Authority; or
  - (v) becomes subject to an order for winding-up by a court of competent jurisdiction; or
  - (f) if the licensee is convicted of having committed an offence under Article 63 of the Order or under Article 46 of the Gas (Northern Ireland) Order 1996;
  - (g) if the licensee fails to pay any financial penalty (within the meaning of Article 45 of the Energy Order) imposed in respect of a contravention or apprehended contravention of a condition to which such licence is subject or of a "relevant requirement" as defined in Article 41(2)(a) of the Energy Order by the due date for such payment and such payment is not made to the Authority within three months after the Authority has given notice in writing of such failure to the licensee, provided that no such notice shall be given by the Authority before the expiration of the period within which an application under Article 49 of the Energy Order could be made questioning the validity or effect of the financial penalty or before the proceedings relating to any such application are finally determined.
2. The Authority may at any time by not less than 30 days' notice in writing to the licensee revoke this licence if the licensee ceases to carry on its Interconnector Business other than with the consent of the Authority.
3. (a) For the purposes of paragraph 1(e)(i) of this Schedule Article 103(1)(a) of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 shall have effect as if for "£750" there was substituted "£250,000" or such higher figure as the Authority may from time to time determine by notice in writing to the Authority and the licensee.
- (b) The licensee shall not be deemed to be unable to pay its debts for the purposes of paragraph 1(e)(i) of this Schedule if any such demand as is mentioned in Article 103(1)(a) of the Insolvency (Northern Ireland) Order 1989 is being contested in good faith by the licensee with recourse to all appropriate measures and procedures or if any such demand is satisfied before the expiration of such period as may be stated in any notice given by the Authority under paragraph 1 of this Schedule.

The licensee shall, after receiving in connection with transit for a minimum duration of one year an application by any entity for an agreement for use of the Moyle Interconnector, notify the Department, the Authority and the Commission of the European Communities without delay of the matters set out in paragraph 2.

The matters of which notification must be given are:-

the application;

if an agreement has not been concluded within 12 months of the date of receipt of the application, the reasons for the failure to conclude it;

the conclusion of the agreement, whether it is concluded before or after the expiry of the period mentioned in sub-paragraph (b) above.

If, in relation to an application for transit by any entity, the Authority has been requested to exercise its powers under Condition 17, the Authority may delay the exercise of its said powers until the terms have been considered by the body set up under Article 3.4 of the Directive and the Authority may give such weight to the opinion (if any) of that body as it thinks fit in exercising its said powers.

In this Condition:-

“**entity**” means any of the entities referred to in Article 3.1 of the Directive;

“**Directive**” means the Directive of the Council of the European Communities, dated 29 October 1990 (No. 90/547/EEC), on the transit of electricity through transmission grids;

“**grid**” means any high-voltage electricity transmission grid for the time being listed in the Annex to the Directive;

“**Member State**” means a Member State of the European Communities; and

“**transit**” means a transaction for the transport of electricity between grids where:-

the grid of origin or final destination is situated in a Member State; and

the transport involves:-

the crossing of at least one frontier between Member States; and

the use of the transmission system in Northern Ireland and at least two other grids.